BYLAWS OF THE AMERICAN FOLKLORE SOCIETY Proposed November 2022

Language in red that is <u>not</u> striked through represents the final version of the bylaws if all amendments are approved.

ARTICLE I. Name

This Society shall be known as the American Folklore Society.

ARTICLE II. Purposes

The purposes of the Society shall be to stimulate and encourage interest and research in folklore in all its aspects; to aid in the dissemination of the results of such research; to promote responsible application of such research in the broad variety of settings in which folklorists work; to publish and distribute publications, reports and journals; to serve as a bond among those interested in the study of folklore; to advocate for and assist the teaching of folklore and the establishment of folklore curricula and programs at all age levels in all educational contexts; to enhance the professional well-being of the Society's members; and to engage in such other activities as are consonant with the foregoing purposes.

ARTICLE III. Membership

The Executive Board shall have the authority to create, change, eliminate, and set the benefits and dues for all classes of membership in the Society.

ARTICLE IV. Officers

Section 1. The officers of the Society shall consist of:

- (a) The President-Elect, elected for a term of one year; to become
- (b) The President for a term of two (2) years; to become
- (c) The Immediate Past President, for a term of one year;
- (d) [Nine (9) or Six (6)] Members-at-Large, elected for terms of three (3) years, [three (3) or two (2)] beginning each year; and
- (e) The Executive Director, appointed by the Executive Board and serving as an Ex-officio member at the pleasure of the Board.
- (f) The Executive Board shall also have the authority responsibility to appoint elect to

the Executive Board, every three years or when the seat is vacant, one (1) Society member who has a perspective or expertise who is drawn from a group within the Society that the Board wants to ensure is represented on the Board, to serve as a Member-at-Large for a term of three (3) years.

(g) The President-Elect and the Immediate Past President are seated in alternate years, with only one seated on the Board at a time.

<u>Section 2</u>. These thirteen (13) [twelve (12) or fifteen (15)] officers shall constitute the Executive Board.

<u>Section 3</u>. The terms for all officers shall be terminal in each position. Officers may be elected or appointed to other positions after the end of their terms.

Section 4. The President-Elect shall:

- (a) Succeed to the office of President at the expiration of the term as President-Elect; and
- (b) Assume the duties of the President in the event of the absence, death, resignation or incapacity of the President.

<u>Section 5</u>. The President shall:

- (a) Serve as the presiding officer of the Society and exercise all the duties and responsibilities commonly associated with this office, except as limited by these Bylaws; and
- (b) Appoint members of Society committees with the advice and consent of the Executive Board.

Section 6. The Immediate Past President shall:

- (a) Serve as an adviser to the President; and
- (b) Assume the duties of the President in the event of the absence, death, resignation or incapacity of the President.

<u>Section 6 7</u>. The Executive Director shall manage the Society's financial, programmatic, and other administrative functions and implement its policies as determined by the Executive Board.

<u>Section 78</u>. In the temporary absence or incapacity of the Executive Director, the Executive Board may designate another person to carry out the duties of that office.

Section 9. Succession

- (a) President: In the event of a permanent vacancy:
- 1. In the first year in office:
- a. The Immediate Past President assumes the duties of the President in the event of the absence, death, resignation or incapacity of the President.
- b. A special election shall be held for President-Elect (see Article IV, Section 9.(b)).
- c. At the beginning of the next calendar year, the President-Elect shall become President.
- 2. In the second year in office:
- a. The President-Elect becomes President, serving out the remainder of the previous President's term and then serving the President-Elect's own two-year term. [See Article IV, Section 4.b]
- (b) President-Elect: In the event of a permanent vacancy, a special election shall be initiated within one month of the vacancy, following all the procedures specified in Article V, Nominations and Elections, Sections 1-6 with a timeline shortened by half. Upon conclusion of the voting and announcement of the electee, that person shall immediately assume the office of President-Elect.
- (c) Immediate Past President: In the event of a permanent vacancy, the President, in consultation with the Executive Board, shall recommend an Interim Immediate Past President from the Council of Past Presidents to be elected by the Executive Board.
- (d) Executive Board Member: In the event of a permanent vacancy:
- 1. The President, in consultation with the Executive Board, shall nominate an individual in good standing from the general membership.
- 2. The Executive Board shall vote to elect the Member.
- 3. Immediately upon the Executive Board's election, the Member shall become a Board Member-at-Large.

ARTICLE V. Nominations and Elections

<u>Section 1</u>. The Nominating Committee shall nominate two (2) Members for each office to be elected directly by AFS members.

<u>Section 2</u>. The Nominating Committee's report shall be circulated to the Members at least two (2) months before the Annual Meeting.

<u>Section 3</u>. Ten (10) or more Members in good standing shall have the right, by signed petition received by the Nominating Committee within two months of the mailing of the initial Nominating Committee report, to add to that report nominations of Members for the various elected offices.

<u>Section 4</u>. The Annual Meeting shall provide an opportunity for a Candidates' Forum, which will include brief candidates' statements and a question and answer session.

<u>Section 5</u>. The Nominating Committee's final report, including nominees added by petition by the process described in Article V, Section 3, shall constitute the mail ballot, and shall be sent to the Members through the Executive Director within the month following the Annual Meeting.

<u>Section 6</u>. Elections shall be by a plurality of votes for each office.

<u>Section 7</u>. Newly elected and appointed-officers shall take office as of January 1 of the new calendar year.

ARTICLE VI. The Executive Board

<u>Section 1</u>. The Executive Board is charged with governance of the Society, with oversight of the Society's finances and management, and with ensuring that the membership is represented in the committees and activities of the Society. The Board shall:

- (a) Establish Society policies, respond to membership needs and concerns, and initiate actions;
- (b) Approve budgets, meet its fiduciary responsibilities and safeguard the Society's financial resources;

- (c) Appoint, and evaluate the performance of, the Executive Director;
- (d) Appoint Editors and regulate the Society's publication program;
- (e) Appoint the Archivist and regulate the Society's archival program;
- (f) Fill vacancies in elected and appointed positions unless otherwise provided for in these Bylaws; and
- (g) Carry out such other functions as the governance of the Society may require.

<u>Section 2</u>. The Executive Board, after thorough consideration, may for just cause remove any elected or Board-appointed officer, editor, archivist or committee member from his or her position.

<u>Section 3</u>. The Executive Board shall hold at least two (2) meetings per year, one of which shall be at the time of the Annual Meeting of the Society.

<u>Section 4</u>. Only elected officers shall have a vote in the proceedings of the Executive Board.

<u>Section 5</u>. The business of the Executive Board shall be transacted by a simple majority of those voting.

Section 6. A quorum of the Executive Board shall be seven (7) voting members.

ARTICLE VII. Editors

<u>Section 1</u>. The Editors of the *Journal of American Folklore* and all other Society-sponsored publications shall be appointed by the Executive Board. The Editor of the *Journal of American Folklore* will be appointed for a renewable term of five (5) years.

<u>Section 2</u>. The Editors of Society publications shall submit written annual reports to the Executive Board, through the Executive Director, not later than the end of the Society's fiscal year.

ARTICLE VIII. Archivist

<u>Section 1</u>. The Society's Archivist shall be appointed by the Executive Board for a renewable term of five (5) years.

<u>Section 2</u>. The Archivist shall submit a written annual report to the Executive Board, through the Executive Director, not later than the end of the Society's fiscal year.

ARTICLE IX. Committees

<u>Section 1</u>. There shall be <u>six (6)</u> seven (7) Standing Committees:

- (a) The Nominating Committee;
- (b) The Publications Committee;
- (c) The Membership Committee;
- (d) The Cultural Diversity Committee;
- (e) The International Issues Committee;
- (f) The Mentoring Committee; and
- (g) The Council of Past Presidents

Section 2. The Nominating Committee shall:

- (a) Consist of three (3) Society members elected for terms of three (3) years, one each year, and one member appointed by the President from the Executive Board;
- (b) Be chaired by the elected member in the final year of his or her term; and
- (c) Make nominations for elected offices and suggestions to the Executive Board for appointed positions.

Section 3. The Publications Committee shall:

- (a) Consist of six (6) Society members, to be appointed by the President, with the advice and consent of the Executive Board, all for terms of three (3) years, two (2) each year;
- (b) Recruit and recommend to the Executive Board the appointment of Society editors, whose service is not otherwise provided for in these bylaws;
- (c) Monitor the state of all Society publications in all media and suggest publication-related policies or actions to the Executive Board.

<u>Section 4</u>. The Membership Committee shall:

- (a) Consist of six (6) Society members, to be appointed by the President, with the advice and consent of the Executive Board, all for terms of three (3) years, two (2) each year;
- (b) Undertake research and other activities regarding the growth and development of the Society's membership and of the services the Society provides to its members, and, based on those activities, recommend policies and actions to the Executive Board.

<u>Section 5</u>. The Cultural Diversity Committee shall:

- (a) Consist of at least six (6) Society members, to be appointed by the President, with the advice and consent of the Executive Board, all for terms of three (3) years, at least two (2) each year;
- (b) Undertake research and other activities regarding priorities and strategies to diversify the Society's membership and to keep the Society engaged with diverse communities, and, based on those activities, recommend policies and actions to the Executive Board.

Section 6. The International Issues Committee shall:

- (a) Consist of at least three (3) Society members, to be appointed by the President, with the advice and consent of the Executive Board, all for terms of three (3) years, one (1) each year;
- (b) Undertake research and other activities regarding priorities and strategies to keep the Society engaged with folklorists and folklore organizations worldwide and, based on those activities, recommend policies and actions to the Executive Board.

<u>Section 7</u>. The Mentoring Committee shall:

- (a) Consist of six (6) Society members, to be appointed by the President, with the advice and consent of the Executive Board, all for terms of three (3) years, two (2) each year;
- (b) Undertake research and other activities regarding priorities and strategies to serve the mentoring and professional development needs of Society members, and, based on those activities, recommend policies and actions to the Executive Board.

Section 8. The Council of Past Presidents shall:

- (a) Consist of AFS Past Presidents who each serves at will;
- (b) be called upon by the AFS President or Executive Director to provide counsel or service as needed.

<u>Section 8-9</u>. All Standing Committees shall submit a written annual report, including a list of current members responsible for the report, to the Executive Board, through the Executive Director, not later than the end of each calendar year.

<u>Section 9 10</u>. Ad Hoc Committees may be constituted at the initiative of the President with the advice and consent of the Executive Board. Five (5) or more Members may also petition the Executive Board for constitution of an Ad Hoc Committee, said petition to specify the matters to be considered.

<u>Section 10 11</u>. Ad Hoc Committees shall be constituted for only one (1) year. They may request continuation on the basis of justifications contained in their report.

<u>Section 11 12</u>. Each Ad Hoc Committee shall submit a written annual report, including a list of current Members responsible for the report, to the Executive Board, through the Executive Director, who shall make it available to the Members.

ARTICLE X. Sections

<u>Section 1</u>. There shall be provision for Sections organized around areas of research interests or other aspects of professional folklore practice.

<u>Section 2</u>. Ten (10) or more members, by signed petition to the Executive Board, may request official recognition as a Section.

<u>Section 3</u>. Organization as a Section makes an interest group eligible for a meeting room at the Annual Meeting and for listing in the Annual Meeting program, but this eligibility is not to be construed as a right. The final determination rests with the Executive Board. A Section may also announce or report on its activities in the *American Folklore Society Newsletter*, as space permits, and maintain a web page on the Society web site.

<u>Section 4</u>. All financial affairs of Sections shall be administered by the Executive Director, in accordance with:

(a) Overall Society financial procedures; and

(b) Section budgets for the upcoming year, to be submitted to the Executive Board, through the Executive Director, not later than thirty (30) days before the Executive Board determines the Society's budget for the upcoming year.

<u>Section 5</u>. Each Section shall submit a written annual report of its activities for the year to the Executive Board, through the Executive Director, not later than the end of that fiscal year.

Section 6. The Executive Board may revoke a Section's official status:

- (a) Upon the recommendation of the Section itself;
- (b) Upon the recommendation of the majority of the Executive Board, which shall show cause that the Section has been conducted in a manner contrary to the purposes of the Society;
- (c) If the Section fails to meet at the Annual Meeting for two consecutive years; or
- (d) If the Section fails to submit annual budgets or reports to the Executive Board as set forth in Article X, Sections 4 and 5.

ARTICLE XI. Annual Meeting

Section 1. The Society shall hold an Annual Meeting.

<u>Section 2</u>. The place and date of the Annual Meeting shall be communicated to the Members not less than 120 days in advance of the meeting.

<u>Section 3</u>. The President, with the advice and consent of the Executive Board, shall appoint an Annual Meeting Committee to organize the scholarly and professional program of the Annual Meeting and make local arrangements for the event.

<u>Section 4</u>. The Society shall hold an Annual Business Meeting at the time of the Annual Meeting.

<u>Section 5</u>. Five (5) percent of the Members in good standing shall constitute a quorum for transacting business at the Annual Business Meeting. The business of this meeting shall be transacted by a simple majority of those voting.

<u>Section 6</u>. Business conducted at Society meetings shall be governed by *Robert's Rules*

of Order, newly revised.

ARTICLE XII. Fellows

The Fellows of the American Folklore Society shall be an honorary rather than an executive body. All criteria and procedures of the Fellows shall be subject to review and ratification by the Executive Board.

ARTICLE XIII. Annual Audit

The Executive Board shall make an annual audit of Society financial records, in which task it shall employ a certified public accountant.

ARTICLE XIV. Finances

All contracts must be approved by the Executive Board and signed by the Executive Director.

ARTICLE XV. Amendment

<u>Section 1</u>. These Bylaws may be amended by the Members by mail ballot, provided that a proposed amendment is approved by two-thirds (2/3) of the votes cast.

<u>Section 2</u>. Amendments may be proposed by the Executive Board or by three (3) percent of the Members in good standing. The Executive Board shall have the proposed amendment circulated to the Members and shall allow thirty (30) days for the return of ballots.

<u>Section 3</u>. The amendments and provisions of these Bylaws shall be effective immediately upon adoption and shall supersede and nullify all previous amendments and provisions.